I. INTRODUCTION 

The Washington State Legislature enacted comprehensive 

statutory schemes to protect and promote Washington State's 

rich and diverse environment and to guide state administrative 

action. Those schemes include the Forest Practices Act (FPA), 

RCW 76.09, and the Administrative Procedures Act (AP A), 

RCW 34.05. The published decision below threatens key 

provisions of those schemes that benefit the state's natural 

environment and provide certainty to the public regarding state 

agency decisions. 

Here, contrary to precedent and plain statutory language, 

the Court of Appeals' opinion erroneously failed to apply the 

broad statutory immunity the FP A grants to the State, the 

Department of Natural Resources (Department), and landowners 

for trees left standing for the public benefit. See RCW 76.09.330. 

Additionally, the Court of Appeals' opinion erroneously 

disregarded the administrative finality of the Department's 

timber harvest permit under the AP A, by allowing Plaintiffs to 
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collaterally challenge the permit's terms in a personal injury suit. 

See RCW 34.05.510. 

This Court should accept review to clarify (1) that 

RCW 76.09.330 grants a broad immunity whenever a 

Department-designated "leave tree" causes damages or injury, 

and (2) that the Department's designation of such trees remains 

final absent an administrative challenge to the permit. 

Consequently, this Court should grant review because the 

opinion conflicts with the decision in Ruiz v. State, 154 Wn. App. 

454, 225 P.3d 458 (2010), and also because upholding the 

legislative schemes that protect our state's environment and 

provide finality for administrative decisions is an issue of 

substantial public interest. See RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4). 

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION 

Washington State and its Department of Natural 

Resources petition for review of the published opinion in Public 

Utility District No. 1 of Snohomish County v. State, _ Wn. 

App. 2d. _, 534 P.3d 1210 (Sept. 5, 2023) (App. A). The 
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Department filed a motion for reconsideration, which the Court 

of Appeals denied on October 25, 2023. See Order (App. B). 

Ill ISSUES FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether the Department has immunity pursuant to 

RCW 76.09.330, which provides that the State, the Department, 

and landowners "shall not be held liable for any injury or 

damages" resulting from riparian and upland trees left 

unharvested, where a tree left standing after a timber harvest 

later fell and caused injury? 

2. Whether Plaintiffs can collaterally challenge the 

Department's final FP A permit and resulting leave tree 

designations through a personal injury lawsuit, even though the 

FPA and the AP A require a timely administrative appeal and the 

appeal period has long passed? 

Ill 

Ill 

Ill 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Department Administers the FP A and Manages 
Millions of Acres Subject to the FP A 

The Department administers and enforces the FP A and 

forest practices rules, including the site-specific approval of 

riparian management zones (RMZs) through a permit approval 

process. See RCW 76.09.050(2); RCW 76.09.040(1)(c), .140(1); 

WAC 222-46-015; WAC 222-16-010; see also Snohomish 

County v. State, 69 Wn. App. 655, 665, 850 P.2d 546 (1993). 

RMZs are areas designated by the Department where trees 

should remain standing for the benefit of riparian environments. 

See WAC 222-30-021. 

Approximately 12 million acres of State-owned and 

private forestlands are subject to the Department's Forest 

Regulation program. See Washington-DNR, Forest 

Regulation, available at https://www.dnr.wa.gov/programs-and­

services/forest-practices (last visited on Nov. 26, 2023). One way 

the Department regulates forestlands is through issuing permits 
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that authorize and restrict timber cutting. If a Department­

approved FP A permit becomes final without challenge to the 

Pollution Control Hearings Board, its terms are binding. 

RCW 76.09.050(4) (with exceptions not applying here, "forest 

practices shall be conducted in accordance with the forest 

practices regulations, orders and directives as authorized by this 

chapter or the forest practices regulations, and the terms and 

conditions of any approved applications") ( emphasis added); 

RCW 76.09.110. 

Additionally, the Department manages approximately 2.4 

million acres of forestland. See Washington-DNR, Forest and 

Trust Lands, available at https:llwww.dnr.wa.gov1managed­

landslforest-and-trust-lands (last visited Nov. 26, 2023). The 

Department's forestry operations on that land are subject to the 

FP A and forest practices rules. See Chuckanut Conservancy v. 

Dep't of Nat. Res., 156 Wn. App. 274, 290, 232 P.3d 1154 

(2010). 

Il l 
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B. The Lugnut Timber Sale was Finalized m 2017 
Without Objection 

In February 2017, the Department held the "Lugnut" 

timber sale for the right to harvest timber in state-owned lands in 

Snohomish County. See CP 1384, .,-r 4; CP 1504, .,-r.,-r 3.1-3.2. 

Sierra Pacific Industries (Sierra) purchased the rights, and 

contracted with Precision Forestry (Precision) to harvest the 

timber. CP 1384, .,-r 4; CP 1504, .,-r 3.2. 

The Lugnut Sale included an area of Sultan Basin Road, 

which runs through an administratively designated RMZ located 

between Olney Creek and the timber harvest boundary. CP 13 81. 

The map below shows the Lugnut Sale. CP 1381. The map's key 

defines relevant features, including Sultan Basin Road, the RMZ 

(blue dots), and the harvestable region edge (black tildes). The 

subject incident where a tree fell onto Mr. Chrisman's vehicle 

occurred on Sultan Basin Road at approximately the red circle 

location ( added to the original picture for illustrative purposes). 
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The Department designates RMZs through administrative 

processes to protect environmental interests. See 

WAC 222-30-010. A regulation requires landowners to leave 

trees standing within an RMZ. WAC 222-30-021. This 

harvesting restriction serves the legislative purpose ofbenefitting 

endangered salmonids and protecting public resources. See 

RCW 76.09.330; RCW 76.09.010(1); (2)(b) and (g); 

RCW 77.85.180(1)(a)(i); (l)(b); (2), and (3). 

In October 2016, a Forest Practices Application for the 

Lugnut Sale (Lugnut Application) was submitted to the 

Department for review. See CP 219, ,-r 4. The Department 

approved the Lugnut Application, and as part of that process 

designated an area as the RMZ. See CP 219, ,-r 7. 

On November 23, 2016, the Department issued its final 

decision approving the Lugnut Application (Lugnut Permit). The 

Department's decision was not appealed. See CP 220, ,-r,-r 11-13; 

RCW 76.09.205. Thus, the Department's RMZ designation 

became final and subject to all FPA enforcement provisions. See 
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CP 221, , 14; RCW 76.09.050(4); RCW 76.09.110; RCW 

76.09.170. 

C. An RMZ Tree Fell on Mr. Chrisman's Vehicle 

On March 13, 2018, Plaintiff Barry Chrisman drove a 

Snohomish County Public Utility District (District) vehicle along 

Sultan Basin Road between Olney Creek and the RMZ boundary. 

CP 1374,, 3. Precision's harvesting operations in that area had 

concluded, and a wind-blown tree fell and struck Mr. Chrisman's 

vehicle on Sultan Basin Road in the middle of the RMZ. 

CP 1374,, 3; see also CP 1384, ,, 7-8. Because Precision had 

removed all non-RMZ trees in the area, only RMZ trees were left 

standing when the collision occurred. See CP 638; 977, , 22; 

1381; 1384 ,, 8-9. 

D. Summary Judgment at the Superior Court 

Mr. Chrisman and his spouse sued the State, Sierra, and 

Precision to recover for personal injuries and loss of consortium. 

See CP 1506, ,, 5.2-5.3; CP 1474,, 2. The District also sued the 

State, Sierra, and Precision, seeking to recover its expenses and 
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losses related to Mr. Chrisman's injuries, as well as the self­

insured workers' compensation benefits received by 

Mr. Chrisman. See CP 1447-55. 

The superior court consolidated both actions. CP 14 73-77. 

Thereafter, Defendants moved for summary judgment. The 

Department argued that its liability was precluded by 

RCW 76.09.330's broad immunity for any damages caused by 

blown down RMZ trees. CP 1391-94. Plaintiffs responded, 

arguing that the Department's RMZ was larger than required by 

rule. CP 409-36; 918-70. The Department replied that, under the 

AP A and FP A, Plaintiffs could not collaterally challenge the 

permit's RMZ width in a tort lawsuit. CP 247-57. The superior 

court granted summary judgment to all Defendants. CP 115-18; 

1112-34; 1335-69; 1388-98. 

E. The Court of Appeals' Opinion 

The Chrismans and the District appealed. CP 5-8, 1921. 

On September 5, 2023, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion 

reversmg summary judgment as to all Defendants. 
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Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish County, 534 P.3d at 1221 

(the opinion). 

The opinion held that, "under the plain language of 

RCW 76.09.330, only [the] act of leaving a tree is immunized." 

Id. at 1218. The opinion determined that the acts Plaintiffs 

complained of-that the State had permitted Sierra and Precision 

to log the trees in an adjoining area and had designated an RMZ 

without a wind buffer-were "distinct from the decision to leave 

the RMZ trees standing, and, under the plain language of the 

statute, are not immunized." Id. at 1218-19. 

Additionally, the opm10n held that, "[u]nder 

RCW 34.05.510(1), the [Plaintiffs] may challenge the 

designation of the RMZ through this suit, rather than through an 

administrative proceeding." Id. at 1219. That statute provides an 

exception to AP A judicial review where "the sole issue is a claim 

for money damages or compensation and the agency whose 

action is at issue does not have statutory authority to determine 

the claim." RCW 34.05.510(1). The opinion concluded that 
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exception applied because (1) Plaintiffs brought a claim for 

money damages; (2) the parties cited no precedent providing the 

Department authority to determine the claim for damages; and 

(3) requiring Plaintiffs to challenge the RMZ through the 

administrative process, two years before the incident, would 

create absurd results. Id. at 1219. 

Further, the opinion concluded that, "[ u ]nder the plain 

language of RCW 76.09.330, immunity attaches only where a 

forestland owner must leave a tree standing in order to comply 

with the relevant regulations." Id. at 1220. Thus, the opinion 

stated "immunity only attaches if the RMZ is properly drawn." 

Id. Because the opinion agreed with Plaintiffs that there was a 

question of material fact as to whether the fallen tree was 

properly located in an RMZ under FP A regulations and the 

State's Habitat Conservation Plan, it held that summary 

judgment was improper. Id. at 1220-21. 

Thereafter, the Court of Appeals denied the Department's 

motion for reconsideration. See Order (App. B). 
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V. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

A. The Opinion Nullified the FPA Framework that 
Allows Trees to Fall Naturally for Public Benefit 

The opinion misinterprets RCW 76.09.330 by erroneously 

denying immunity for damages resulting from a Department­

designated leave tree and by limiting immunity to cover only the 

specific act ofleaving a tree. The opinion encourages landowners 

to cut every last tree possible, replacing the legislative policy 

encouraging landowners to leave trees for environmental benefit 

by providing liability protection for only required trees. This 

conflicts with the statute's express language, which indicates that 

leave trees "may be required." RCW 76.09.330 (emphasis 

added). 

This holding also creates a conflict with Ruiz, which 

confirmed the broad scope of RCW 76.09.330's immunity on 

facts almost identical to this case. Additionally, this holding 

contradicts the legislative recognition that leave trees protect 

Washington's natural resources for the public benefit-an FPA 
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purpose. Accordingly, this Court should accept review. See 

RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4). 

1. The FP A confirms RCW 76.09.330 was intended 

to provide robust immunity for injuries caused 

by riparian and upland trees left standing 

The FP A confirms the Legislature's focus on the 

importance of protecting forest soils, fisheries, wildlife, water 

quantity and quality, air quality, recreation, and scenic beauty. 

RCW 76.09.010(1). In RCW 76.09.330, the Legislature 

recognized the benefits of leaving riparian and upland trees 

unharvested, i.e. leave trees, to protect the environment: 

The legislature hereby finds and declares that 
riparian ecosystems on forestlands in addition to 
containing valuable timber resources, provide 
benefits for wildlife, fish, and water quality. The 
legislature further finds and declares that leaving 
riparian areas unharvested and leaving snags 
and green trees for large woody debris 
recruitment for streams and rivers provides 
public benefits including but not limited to 
benefits for threatened and endangered 
salmonids, other fish, amphibians, wildlife, and 
water quality enhancement. The legislature 
further finds and declares that leaving upland 
areas unharvested for wildlife and leaving snags 
and green trees for future snag recruitment 
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provides benefits for wildlife. Forestland owners 

may be required to leave trees standing in riparian 

and upland areas to benefit public resources. It is 

recogrzized that these trees may blow down or fall 

into streams and that organic debris may be 

allowed to remain in streams. This is beneficial 

to riparian dependent and other wildlife species. 

RCW 76.09.330 (emphases added). Thus, as the Legislature 

found, leaving riparian and upland trees unharvested so that they 

may fall naturally promotes healthy riparian and upland 

ecosystems that benefit fish, wildlife, and water quality. 

The Legislature expressly recognized that leave trees may 

blow down, and in exchange for that environmental benefit 

provided for broad immunity from liability for any resulting 

damage or injury: 

Notwithstanding any statutory provision, rule, or 

common law doctrine to the contrary, the 

landowner, the Department, and the state of 

Washington shall not be held liable for any injury 

or damages resulting from these actions, 

including but not limited to wildfire, erosion, 

flooding, personal injury, property damage, 

damage to public improvements, and other injury 

or damages of any kind or character resulting 

from the trees being left. 
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Id. ( emphases added). This immunity applies to all leave trees 

left standing within an RMZ, plus all other upland trees left 

standing to benefit wildlife, fish, and water quality. See 

WAC 222-30-20(12)(b) (discussing wildlife reserve trees). 

The 1999 change from former RCW 76.09.330 (1992) to 

current RCW 76.09.330 confirms the Legislature's intent to 

grant an extremely broad immunity for injuries resulting from 

falling leave trees. The amendment strengthened the policy 

justifications for leaving trees and added language broadening 

immunity to include all forms of damages caused by any leave 

tree. Compare former RCW 76.09.330 (1992) with 

RCW 76.09.330; see also Ruiz, 154 Wn. App. at 460. This 

coincided with major "Forests and Fish Report" amendments to 

the FP A, geared towards enhanced riparian protections for 

salmonids. See RCW 77.85.180. 

2. Ruiz confirms the broad scope of RCW 

76.09.330's immunity on facts almost identical to 

this case 
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Ruiz involved facts and legal issues analogous to the 

present case. In Ruiz, a plaintiff was injured when a tree broken 

off by high winds struck his vehicle on a state highway. 154 Wn. 

App. at 456. The tree had been left standing within an RMZ 

abutting a recently logged area. Id. at 457. After the incident, the 

trees at the site within 120 feet of the highway, including those 

within the RMZ, were cut for public safety. Id. 

The plaintiff argued that RCW 76.09.330 immunity should 

not apply, alleging that both the Department and the harvester 

knowingly created a dangerous condition that proximately 

caused his injuries. Id. 

The Court of Appeals upheld summary judgment because 

of RCW 76.09.330's broad immunity. Id. at 461--62. The Ruiz 

Court examined RCW 76.09.330's legislative development, 

including the 1999 amendments. Id. at 459-60. In doing so, the 

Ruiz Court recognized the immunity provision's "very broad 

sweep," but concluded the Legislature intended such a result 

when weighing competing public policies, i.e. , the public benefit 
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of leaving areas unharvested versus the public safety risk of 

leaving exposed trees along a road at an RMZ edge. Id. at 458-

61. Having acknowledged that the extent to which the State 

"waives its sovereign immunity or retreats from that waiver" was 

"completely within the ken of the legislature," the Ruiz Court 

concluded: "It is clear that the State has asserted its immunity 

and extended that immunity to those required to obey its dictates 

in the area of forest practices." Id. at 459-60. 

3. The opinion erroneously denied the Department 

immunity by narrowly interpreting RCW 

76.09.330 to cover only the specific act of leaving 

a tree 

RCW 76.09.330 twice expressly recognizes that RMZ 

trees may blow down and injure others. There is no exception 

from immunity simply because RMZ trees fall down after other 

trees near them were cut. 

In reasoning that it is the cutting of other trees, rather than 

the leaving of the tree that fell, that can cause liability, the 

opinion ignores this plain statutory language, creates a conflict 
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with Ruiz, and eviscerates the statute. Ruiz explicitly confirmed 

that cutting down surrounding trees, without leaving a wind 

buffer along the RMZ' s edge, does not vitiate immunity: 

Ruiz agrees that the immunity provision is clear, but 
argues that [defendants] are prohibited from 
asserting that immunity because they created a 
dangerous condition by leaving exposed trees at the 
edge of a riparian zone. He argues in essence that 
because the RMZ was near a road, it was 
foreseeable that trees would fall resulting in damage 
and, thus, [defendants] should have considered this 
and waived any environmental regulations. While 
this argument has some attraction, particularly on 
the facts here that underscore a collision between 
the important policy of public safety and that of 
environmental protection, these public policy 
choices, however, are for the legislature not this 
court. 

Ruiz, 154 Wn. App. at 459 ( emphasis added). 

Thus, Ruiz explicitly held that where a harvester cut all the 

surrounding trees and left the RMZ trees standing without 

protection, thereby causing them to blow over onto a plaintiff, 

immunity nonetheless protected the Department and warranted 

summary judgment. That result was compelled by the statute's 

plain language immunizing the Department from liability for 
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"injury or damages of any kind or character resulting from the 

trees being left." RCW 76.09.330. 

Many activities that occur in the vicinity of leave trees 

could affect leave trees' stability. These activities range from acts 

affecting the soil, water flow, and wind travel. If immunity 

applies only in the absence of any act that might have contributed 

to the falling of the tree, the resulting immunity would be overly 

narrow, contrary to RCW 76.09.330's grant of broad immunity 

from liability "for any injury or damages . . . of any kind or 

character resulting from the trees being left." 

The opinion erroneously held that the specific act of 

leaving a tree was entitled to immunity, but only if no other 

acts-like cutting trees outside the RMZ-are involved. This 

holding renders the immunity statute practically meaningless. 

See Freedom Found. v. Dep 't of Soc. & Health Servs., 197 

Wn.2d 116, 127-28, 480 P.3d 1119 (2021) (appellate courts 

interpret statutes to avoid rendering any part meaningless). Here, 

Mr. Chrisman was not injured by the trees that were cut, removed 
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from the site, and manufactured into wood products. Rather, he 

was injured by a blown-down leave tree. The opinion ignores this 

reality and is contrary to RCW 76.09.330's plain meaning. 

Accordingly, this Court should accept review. See 

RAP 13.4(b )(2), ( 4). 

4. The opinion erroneously denied the Department 

immunity for damages resulting from a 

Department-designated leave tree 

RCW 76.09.330's plain language confirms that all trees 

left standing under an approved forest practices permit-as with 

the Lugnut Permit-are within the statutory immunity's scope. 

As noted in the statute, "leaving riparian areas unharvested" and 

"leaving upland areas unharvested" provides a multitude of 

environmental benefits including habitat for endangered species 

and enhanced water quality protection. To encourage leaving 

riparian and upland areas unharvested, the statute immunizes 

landowners, the Department, and the State from "injury or 

damages of any kind or character resulting from the trees being 
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left." 1 Accordingly, the statute entitles the Department to 

immunity from liability for all trees left standing within the

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