FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/19/2024 1:35 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 102586-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PUBLIC UTLITY DISTRICT NO. 1 OF SNOHOMISH COUNTY, a Washington Municipal corporation; BARRY CHRISMAN and KERRY CHRISMAN, individually and as husband and wife,

Respondents,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON; SIERRA PACIFIC INDUSTRIES DBA SIERRA PACIFIC INDUSTRIES, INC., a California corporation; PRECISION FORESTRY, INC., a Washington corporation, and ABC CORPORATIONS 1-10,

Petitioners.

RESPONDENTS BARRY AND KERRY CHRISMANS' ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

DEARIE LAW GROUP, P.S.

Raymond J. Dearie, Jr., WSBA No. 28792
Drew V. Lombardi, WSBA No. 56997

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

The only argument the State presents on this point is directed at the merits and riddled with nonsensical assertions devoid of any legal precedent. *See Id.* at 1219-20 (explaining that the State failed to cite authority for two of its contentions). Sierra asserts that "[t]he Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with

its prior holdings in *Ruiz* by interpreting RCW 76.09.330 much more narrowly than in *Ruiz*...". Sierra's Petition at 27. This assertion again ignores that the *Ruiz* Court never reached a strict, plain language construction of the word "required"—the correct construction of a statutory grant of immunity in derogation of the common law—because the parties stipulated to the propriety of the RMZ. *See*, *e.g.*, *Michaels v. CH2M Hill*, *Inc.*, 171 Wn.2d 587, 600, 257 P.3d 532 (2011) (reiterating that "[s]tatutory grants of immunity in derogation of the common law are strictly construed."). Precision appears to omit any mention of this distinction in its Petition.

In effect, none of the Petitioners assert, let alone show, an actual conflict between *Ruiz* and this case when it comes to the Court of Appeals' reversal of summary judgment because of "a genuine issue of material fact as to whether a CMZ exists in Olney Creek." 534 P.3d at 1221. It is impossible for such a conflict to exist because the *Ruiz* Court was never presented with

the central dispute in this case. As such, Petitioners cannot satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(2).

2. <u>Precision and Sierra Are Distinct From the Forestland Owners in Ruiz Because They Had No Control Over the RMZ/CMZ Land.</u>

Precision and Sierra also fail to grasp the distinction between themselves and the entity found to be a forestland owner in *Ruiz*, Hancock Forest Management, despite the Court of Appeals' detailed analysis explaining the distinction. *See* 534 P.3d at 1217-18. RCW 76.09.330 provides that only "[f]orestland owners" are entitled to immunity. In turn, RCW 76.09.020(16) defines "forestland owner" as:

any person in actual control of forestland, whether such control is based on either legal or equitable title, or on any other interest entitling the holder to sell or otherwise dispose of any or all of the timber on such land in any manner...

In *Ruiz*, White River Forests, LLC owned the entirety of the land where timber harvesting activities were set to occur, *including what became the RMZ*. See 154 Wn. App. at 456. White River hired Hancock to manage and control that land. See

Id. Thus, the tree that struck the plaintiff stood within land designated as an RMZ that was *owned*, *managed*, *and controlled*by White River and Hancock – the State was only involved to ensure that an RMZ was designated. See Id. at 456, 461-62.

As a result, the plaintiff in *Ruiz* could only contend that Hancock styled itself as a management company rather than a landowner – it was indisputable that Hancock had "control" of the RMZ. *See Id.* at 461; *see also Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish Cnty.*, 534 P.3d at 1217 (citing Br. Of Appellant at 28, *Ruiz v. State*, 154 Wn. App. 454, 225 P.3d 458 (2010), No. 63783-6-I). Since Hancock had control of the RMZ via White River's ownership, it was, of course, a "forestland owner" of the RMZ. *See* 154 Wn. App. at 461-62.

On the other hand, in this case the tree that struck Mr.

Chrisman stood on land designated as an RMZ that was (1)

exclusively owned, managed, and controlled by the State; and

¹ https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A01/637835% 20appellants.pdf.

that (2) Precision and Sierra indisputably had no "right to sell or otherwise dispose of" the timber from, unlike White River and Hancock in both respects. CP 1146 (§G-011); CP 1016-18, CP The State supports this distinction from Ruiz itself, 1381. explaining that "the Department [of Natural Resources] acted both as landowner/applicant ... RCW 76.09.330's immunity applies to both roles." State's Petition at 22, n.1 (emphasis added). Precision and Sierra have similarly admitted and conceded throughout this litigation that they only had the right "to sell or otherwise dispose of" timber in the sale area, but not the RMZ. See 534 P.3d at 1217 (reiterating Precision's concession that "it did not have the right to harvest in the RMZ," and Sierra's concession that the only trees left standing were "within the RMZ and outside the timber sale area.").

Consequently, as the Court of Appeals explained, Precision and Sierra only had "control" over the sale area. *See Id.* at 1217-18. The pertinent Timber Sale Map and Timber Sale Agreement defined the sale area as land severed from the RMZ

where the offending tree stood. *See Id.*; CP 1146 (§G-011); CP 1016-18, CP 1381. Therefore, Precision and Sierra were "forestland owners" of land adjacent to the RMZ, but not the RMZ itself, distinct from White River and Hancock in *Ruiz*. Given this distinction, no conflict as to Division One's interpretation of "forestland owner" is present, and review remains improper.

3. The Distinct Claims Between the Plaintiffs in Ruiz and This Case Establish the Lack of a Conflict Related to Immunized Actions.

Finally, all three Petitioners continue to incorrectly equate the *Ruiz* plaintiff's claim with the Respondents' claims in this case. Petitioners' surface level argument made to fabricate a conflict is easily disposed of by examining RCW 76.09.330's plain language and the claims made in each case.

With respect to the conduct immunized by RCW 76.09.330, the statute states: "Forestland owners <u>may be</u> <u>required to leave trees standing</u> in riparian and upland areas ... [n]otwithstanding any statutory provision, rule, or common law

doctrine to the contrary, the landowner, the department and the state of Washington shall not be held liable for any injury or damages *resulting from these actions*." (emphasis added). As the Court of Appeals explained in this case, "[t]he plain language of the statute is unambiguous and protects only 'these actions:' leaving a riparian tree as required." 534 P.3d at 1218.

In *Ruiz*, the "essence" of the plaintiff's argument was "that because the RMZ was near a road, it was foreseeable that trees would fall resulting in damage, and, thus, the State and [the landowner] should have considered this and waived any environmental regulations [that prevented them from removing the offending trees]." 154 Wn. App. at 459. In other words, the plaintiff's claim centered on an argument that the defendants *should not have left the offending trees standing*, and instead should have "waived any environmental regulations" and cut the offending trees down. *See Id.* at 459-460 (detailing why the *Ruiz* plaintiff's claim that "*leaving* exposed trees at the edge of a riparian zone" is immunized) (emphasis added). Consistent with

the Court of Appeals' plain language analysis in the instant case, the *Ruiz* Court concluded that leaving trees standing is immunized and rejected the plaintiff's claim. *See Id*.

Here, however, the "essence" of Respondents' claims focuses on conduct separate and distinct from leaving the offending tree standing. Namely, the State's decision to designate an RMZ/CMZ without a wind buffer, and to allow Sierra and Precision to log all trees in Unit 2 without a wind buffer, leaving the offending tree vulnerable to obvious and foreseeable forest-edge effects. The Court of Appeals appreciated this distinction, explaining that "[t]hese acts are distinct from the decision to leave the RMZ trees standing, and, under the plain language of the statute, are not immunized." 534 P.3d at 1218-19.

Petitioners all argue something along the lines of: "[t]here is no meaningful difference between 'creating a dangerous condition by leaving exposed trees at the edge of a riparian zone' (*Ruiz*) and 'rendering the RMZ trees vulnerable to forest-edge

effects' (instant case)." Sierra's Petition at 30 (citations omitted); see also State's Petition at 19-21; Precision's Petition at 6-7. This oversimplistic view completely misses the mark. Although the injury-causing events in Ruiz and this case are similar (blown down trees), the claimed negligent acts that led to the injury-causing events are distinct. Under the plain language of RCW 76.09.330, one of those acts is immunized – leaving an RMZ tree standing via, for example, failing to waive environmental regulations. Ruiz, 154 Wn. App. at 459-60. Other acts, such as failing to properly designate a wind buffer, are not immunized, because those acts are unassociated with leaving an RMZ tree standing. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Snohomish Cnty., 534 P.3d at 1218-19. Accordingly, instead of conflicting with Ruiz, the Court of Appeals distinguished Ruiz and addressed a legal question that was not at issue in Ruiz. Absent any actual conflict, there is no valid basis to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. Petitioners' Only Real Interest is Their Hope That This Court Will Grant Them an Unfettered Immunity Shield To Maximize Profits.

This Court's precedent shows that the language of RAP 13.4(b)(4) is to be strictly followed – a petition must truly present a substantial, wide-reaching issue of public interest. See, e.g., Matter of Arnold, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 408 P.3d 1091, 1092 (2017) (granting review because holdings in a line of cases "affect public safety by removing an entire class of sex offenders from the registration requirements..."); see also Matter of Williams, 197 Wn.2d 1001, 484 P.3d 445, 445-47 (2021) (granting review of personal restraint petition because "[t]he COVID-19 pandemic has profoundly affected all segments of American society, including the men and women confined in correctional facilities..."); In re Flippo, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413, 414 (2016) (accepting review in case challenging the imposition of legal financial obligations due to "numerous now-pending personal restraint petitions challenging the imposition of LFOs" under similar circumstances).

Petitioners assert a variety of purported public interests that can be categorized into three themes: (1) interests concerning timber industry profitability, (2) interests concerning the environment, and (3) interests concerning administrative finality. When Petitioners' public interests are scrutinized, none of them come close to a "substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court," akin to the cases cited above. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. <u>Petitioners' First Interest, Protecting the Forestry Industry and Maximizing Profits, is Neither Public Nor Substantial.</u>

Sierra and Precision both concede that this case only presents a financial issue to the forestry industry rather than the public. For instance, Precision outright admits that "*Iflorestland owners* need certainty in how to operate under the Forest Practices Act...". Precision's Petition at 23 (emphasis added). Precision then goes on to explain this interest in further detail, pointing out that not accepting review "could expose foresters to fines...". *Id.* at 21 (emphasis added). Sierra compounds

Precision's hyper-focus on the forestry industry, arguing that "[t]he Court of Appeals' ruling will have a chilling effect <u>on the</u> <u>forest industry</u>." Sierra's Petition at 22 (emphasis added). Similar to Precision's concern about fines, Sierra's hypothetical "chilling effect" relates largely to the fact that cases like this will "cut into revenue and wages...". *Id.* at 26.

Suffice it to say, the public has no substantial financial interest in requiring the forestry industry to conduct timber harvesting activities in a safe manner. Considering that no less than hundreds of acres of trees were clear-cut in this case, any financial loss from leaving merely 100 more feet of trees (the Habitat Conservation Plan size for a wind buffer (CP 139)) to ensure a safe wind buffer exists next to a busy public highway is miniscule. Taken together, Precision and Sierra's forestry industry-related interests are neither public nor substantial.

-

² Sierra also tries to lead this Court into applying a completely different standard applicable to moot cases. Sierra's Petition at 22. As Sierra recognizes, this case is not moot and therefore the standard Sierra advocates for is inapplicable. *Id*.

2. <u>Petitioners Claiming an Environmental Interest</u> is Hypocrisy at its Finest.

Sierra and the State also assert interests related to the environment. *See*, *e.g.*, Sierra's Petition at 23-24. The State goes so far as to claim that leaving trees next to a public roadway with no wind buffer is such an important environmental interest that the "*only way* to secure [it] is to hold that immunity applies to damages caused by any naturally falling leave tree, *regardless of what actions or processes caused those damages to occur*." State's Petition at 30 (emphasis added).

The hypocrisy in Sierra's and the State's environment-based interest is obvious and alarming. All three Petitioners are entities that reap massive profits from clear-cutting Washington's forests, yet when they face liability, all of a sudden they are concerned about the environment. But even if their concern was genuine, this Court has denied review in at least one case presenting far greater environmental issues, in part because Washington's "jurisprudence is focused on human life and

human rights and does not recognize rights in nature." *Aji P. v.*State, 198 Wn.2d 1025, 497 P.3d 350, 351, n.1 (2021).

Moreover, Sierra and the State fail to show any true threat to riparian environments if review is denied. Both Petitioners cite statistics that, at first blush, show the substantial amount of riparian environment in Washington. Sierra's Petition at 24-25; State's Petition at 4-5. But Sierra and the State conveniently omit how much of that riparian environment features a well-traveled, public roadway. Taking it one step further, Sierra and the State conveniently omit how much of the riparian environment featuring a well-traveled, public roadway will have RMZs/CMZs that leave a narrow sliver of trees next to the roadway without a wind buffer. No doubt this specific type of riparian environment—the only type of riparian environment at issue in this case—is a meager fraction of the statistics Sierra and the State provide in their Petitions.

If Petitioners were truly concerned about the environment, they would surely admit that leaving more trees standing (i.e.,

wind buffers) balances the environmental benefits of RMZs/CMZs with the safety of citizens using public roads. This consideration was conspicuously omitted in the Petitioners' Petitions, because striking this balance would decrease revenue. Stated simply, Sierra's and the State's environmental interests are not only hypocritical and legally inconsequential, but they are also speculative and misleading. *See*, *e.g.*, Sierra's Petition at 23-24 (contending that the Court of Appeals' decision "*may* prevent trees from falling onto rivers and streams...") (emphasis added).

3. This Case Does Not Implicate Administrative Finality; The State's Continued Attempts to Shoehorn Plaintiffs' Claims for Damages Into Claims for Injunctive Relief Must be Disregarded.

Lastly, the State repeats its position on the merits regarding the Administrative Procedure Act, then claims that the Court of Appeals' opinion "threatens the substantial public interest of administrative finality by allowing Plaintiffs to challenge final agency regulations in tort suits for damages."

State's Petition at 25-30. While the Chrismans will not counter the State on the merits of its APA argument again, they would be remiss if they did not mention that this lawsuit does not challenge the finality of the State's RMZ/CMZ.

The State (again) asserts that Respondents are attempting to collaterally challenge the Lugnut permit and thereby get some form of unspecified injunctive relief. See State's Petition at 28. This claim lacks a scintilla of basis in law or fact. Respondents are not demanding that the State re-designate the RMZ/CMZ, that the State amend the Lugnut Permit, that the trial court overturn the Lugnut Permit, or some other form of injunctive relief subject to the APA's bar on judicial review. CP 1447-55; CP 1466-72; CP 1503-07. Rather, Respondents have simply argued that the offending tree was not required to be left standing because the State misdrew the RMZ/CMZ, which speaks only to the scope and inapplicability of immunity. Therefore, the State's-claimed "substantial public interest of administrative finality" is simply not at issue in this case and, as a result, cannot warrant review by this Court.

D. The Chrismans Adopt the Arguments in PUD's Answer.

Pursuant to RAP 10.1(g), the Chrismans adopt the arguments presented in Respondent PUD's Answer.

V. CONCLUSION

Petitioners' Petitions for Review should be denied.

I certify that this memorandum contains 4,980 words, in compliance with RAP 18.17.